
 CITY OF RICHARDSON 
CITY PLAN COMMISSION MINUTES – MAY 21, 2024 

The Richardson City Plan Commission met on May 21, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. in the Multipurpose 
Room #CH157 of the Richardson City Hall, 2360 Campbell Creek Boulevard, Suite 525, 
Richardson, TX. 

MEMBERS PRESENT: Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
Kenneth Southard, Vice Chairman 
Nate Roberts, Commissioner 
Sebrena Bohnsack, Commissioner 
Gary Beach, Commissioner 
Rebecca Poynter, Commissioner 
Byron Purdy, Commissioner 

MEMBERS ABSENT: Joe Costantino, Commissioner 
Michael Keller, Commissioner 

CITY STAFF PRESENT: Sam Chavez, Director of Development Services 
Dan Tracy, Asst Director of Development & Engineering 
Derica Peters, Senior Planner 
Anna Jo Castaneda, Executive Secretary 

BRIEFING SESSION 
Prior to the start of the regular business meeting, the City Plan Commission met with staff 
regarding staff reports and agenda items. No action was taken. 

REGULAR BUSINESS MEETING 

1. Approval of Minutes of the regular business meeting of April 16, 2024, and May 7, 2024.

Motion: Chairman Marsh made a motion to approval the minutes as presented for April 
16, 2024, and May 7, 2024. Commissioner Beach seconded the Motion. 
Motion passed 7-0. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

All items listed under the consent agenda are considered to be routine by the City Plan Commission 
and will be enacted upon by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate 
discussion of these items unless desired, in which case any item(s) may be removed from the 
Consent Agenda for separate consideration. 

2. Replat – Richardson Center, Lot 10C: Consider and act on a request for a replat of Lot 10B
of the Richardson Center to dedicate an Oncor easement and multiple water easements for
future redevelopment for retail and commercial uses. The 9.065-acre tract is located at the
southeast corner of South Plano Road and East Belt Line Road. Owner: Vu Tran, VM Holding
Company, Inc.  Staff:  Dan Tracy

APPROVED



 
 2 
 

 
Motion: Chairman Marsh made a motion to recommend approval of the Consent 

Agenda as presented. Vice Chairman Southard seconded the motion. 
Motion Passed 7-0 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 
3. ZF 24-07 Waterwood Villas: Consider and act on a request to rezone approximately 2.22 

acres located at 2251 N. Glenville Drive, on the west side of N. Glenville Drive, south of 
Waterwood Drive, from I-M(1) Industrial to PD Planned Development with modified 
development standards for a multi-family development. Owner: Midas Richardson III, LLC. 
Staff: Derica Peters. 

 
Ms. Peters began by stating that Zoning File 24-07 is a request for approval to rezone 
approximately 2.22 acres located at 2251 N. Glenville Drive, on the west side of N. Glenville 
Drive, south of Waterwood Drive, from I-M(1) Industrial to PD Planned Development with 
modified development standards for a multi-family development.  
 
Ms. Peters stated the property was rezoned in 1989 from PD Planned Development to I-M(1) 
Industrial District with special conditions (Ordinance No. 2735). The subject property was allowed 
to be developed for industrial or retail uses; however, the property was never developed. In 2022, 
the subject property was rezoned to PD Planned Development for the I-M(1) Industrial district for 
a limited-service hotel with a 5-story building with 122 rooms, which was never developed.  
 
Ms. Peters explained the applicant is requesting the site to be zoned PD Planned Development for 
the apartments with a unique set of development standards with 210 units, 270 bedrooms on a 
2.22-acre lot with density of 94 units per acre. The minimum unit size would 500-square feet, a 
maximum building height of 75-feet and five (5) stories, the front setback will be twenty-feet. The 
building elevations show the proposed design to be a wrap style apartment development with 
façades consisting of brick, stucco, fiber cement panels and balconies provided on some units. The 
applicant also proposes a minimum of four (4) amenities will be provided within common areas 
throughout the apartment area or within a 5,000-square foot amenity courtyard. 
 
Ms. Peters stated the applicant is proposing to provide 275 parking spaces to meet the required 
270 spaces which is one (1) parking space per bedroom and one (1) bicycle parking space 
providing twenty (20) vehicle spaces, in accordance with proposed amendments to the 
Comprehensive Zoning Ordinance parking requirements. Visitor parking will be available on site, 
but the amount and location has not been determined. 
 
Ms. Peters stated that site access is provided from Waterwood Drive to the north and from 
Glenville Drive to the east with both driveways providing direct access into the parking garage 
which will be gated for resident-use only on restricted parking levels; a Traffic Impact Analysis 
(TIA) showed that no roadway modifications were required. 
 
Ms. Peters advised that items to consider of the surrounding land uses is a multi-family project to 
the north developed as the Galatyn Park transit-oriented development that serves the Galatyn Park 
Dart Station and is approximately one-half mile walking distance to this property. The future land 

APPROVED



 
 3 
 
use plan calls for regional employment which calls for higher density development and the primary 
land use being high rise office so while it does not mention residential development it does call for 
higher density development. The multi-family properties to the north that were part of the Galatyn 
Park project were approved to have a density anywhere from 53 units up to 100 units per acre.  
 
Ms. Peters concluded by stating should the City Planning Commission accept the applicant’s 
request as presented the condition would include that the subject site shall be zoned PD Planned 
Development District and shall be used and developed in substantial conformance with the Zoning 
Concept Plan, the building elevations and in accordance with the PD conditions. Ms. Peters stated 
no correspondence has been received regarding this request and she is available for any questions. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any questions for staff, seeing none the applicant was asked 
to come forward. 
 
Suzanne Kedron, Jackson Walker, 2323 Ross Avenue, Dallas, Texas introduced Sphinx 
Development who has thirty plus years of consultation, appraisal and development experience and 
they would be working on this project known as Waterwood Villas. 
 
Victoria Morris, 2323 Ross Avenue, Dallas, Texas stated that Sphinx Development proposes a 
Planned Development District for Waterwood Villas which would have no more than 210 dwelling 
units with a mix of one or two bedrooms, 10% of units at a minimum of 500-square feet with 
average unit size at 800-square feet, featuring open kitchen concepts, living, and dining 
connectivity, modern lighting fixtures and energy efficient stainless-steel appliances. 
 
Ms. Morris shared with the Commission the community features of Sphinx developments and 
addressed the same information that staff covered in their presentation along with information 
about the number of employees they would need, which is five (5) to six (6) employees in total 
with three (3) on-site at any given time. Ms. Morris stated she was available for questions. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked about the target market for a 500-square foot unit. 
 
Ms. Morris replied the target market for these units include people entering the housing market, 
couples, single professional working people.  
 
Commissioner Purdy inquired about an estimation of the monthly rent charge. 
 
Ms. Morris we are just going through the entitlement process and figuring out the financing aspect 
but would let a Sphinx representative address the question. 
 
Telcevne (TK) Olcobiah, Sphinx Developers, 3030 LBJ Freeway Suite #3050, Dallas answered 
that for a property this size the rent would range from $1,000 to $1,600 per month and currently 
they are still reviewing market conditions, interest rates and the ups and downs of the economy.  
  
Chairman Marsh asked if the units were estimated to be market rate apartments. 
 
Mr. Olcobiah stated that it would be determined by what the interest rates and economy would be 
like when they were ready to move forward. 

APPROVED



 
 4 
 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there would be any attempt at making this project affordable housing. 
 
Mr. Olcobiah replied that the cost would be determined by what the market could bare and what 
market studies indicated.  
 
Chairman Marsh inquired what the mix of the different sizes of units were in this development. 
 
Mr. Olcobiah stated that currently there were 10% studio apartments, about 40% one bedrooms 
and around 35% two bedrooms.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there was any reason why there were so few balconies on the exterior 
and if they were only on a specific size of units.  
 
Justin Vaughan, HLR Architects, 10660 Lake Haven Drive, Dallas stated that this project had units 
with balconies on the corners facing the two main streets and there will be balconies overlooking 
the amenity courtyard that is internal. The number of balconies that a development decides to have 
provides options for renters and it is up to the developer to decide how many to include. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any further questions for the applicant or if there was anyone 
who wanted to speak in favor or opposition to the request. 
 
With no further speakers, Chairman Marsh made a motion to close the public hearing.  
Commissioner Beach seconded the motion.  Motion passed 7-0. 
 
Chairman Marsh stated that this site has been looked at quite a bit in the past and a resident use is 
compatible with the hotels and other apartments, however, he was concerned that over time a 
higher quality product would be better for the area but glad that it will be market rate apartments. 
 

Motion: Commissioner Marsh made a motion to recommend approval of the request 
as presented.  Commissioner Bohnsack seconded the motion. 
Motion Passed 6-1 (Opposed by Commissioner Beach). 

 
 
4. ZF 24-08 ATRE Waterview Student Apartments: Consider and act on a request to amend 

the PD Planned Development for a 13.03-acre development located between Waterview 
Parkway and President George Bush Highway, east of Frankford Road, to allow student-
purpose built apartments on the east side of the property in lieu of apartments and amendments 
to the development standards. Owner: Mehrdad Mazaheri. Staff: Sam Chavez. 

 
Sam Chavez began by stating this is a request to amend an existing Planned Development District 
with its own set of development standards located between Waterview Parkway and President 
George Bush Turnpike east of Frankford Road and that the request is to amend the existing PD to 
allow purpose-built student apartments on the eastside of the property in lieu of market rate 
apartments, and amendments to the development standard. 
 
Mr. Chavez provided current information on the approved concept plan for this site where the 
maximum number of units allowed is 335 with the number of beds being 450, required parking 

APPROVED



 
 5 
 
spaces is 450 at a rate of 1 space per bedroom, however they are providing 475 spaces. There are 
5 live work units and 13,500-square feet of retail/co-working area. The proposed changes are 
related to Phase 1 to remove market rate apartments. Instead, the applicant proposes purpose-built 
student apartments of 173 allowed units, 534 beds, and 428 required parking spaces at the rate of 
0.8 space per bedroom, and provide now 503 parking spaces, shuttle service, 5 live work units and 
8,024-square feet of retail/co-working area. 
 
Mr. Chavez brought attention to the table detailing what was previously approved and what is 
proposed. He described the updated phasing plan shows and phasing requirements, which require 
infrastructure and sidewalks for Phase 2 to be complete before a Certificate of  Occupancy could 
be issued for Phase1, and before Certificate of Occupancy can be issued for Phase 2, the retail and 
hotel developments should be constructed to the point of being weather tight, at minimum.  He 
also explained that the proposed elevations for the student-built apartments are similar in materials 
and design, but the only difference is seen on the north elevation where the 5 live-work units will 
face President George Bush Freeway. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the Commission had any questions and seeing none the applicant could 
come forward. 
 
Maxwell Fisher, ZoneDev, 2502 Grandview Drive, Richardson, Texas stated the project has the 
same development team as the previous request and Dr. Mazaheri would retain ownership of the 
property, and they also have a national student housing developer involved. 
 
Mr. Fisher advised that the previous request had a mix of housing, however they realized how 
much of a demand there was for student housing and that is the reason for this request. The 
proposed change is on the eastern phase. He explained that when building Phase 1 they could stub 
out the main utilities for Phase 2, and provide the necessary roads and sidewalks, to prime the 
property for final build out. A temporary sidewalk will be built so that students can get to 
Waterview Parkway until the hotel develops. Rutford Road is going to be extended which brings 
the site even closer to UTD. Mr. Fisher stated that this request is expected to have less trips 
generated than the previous request and there will be shuttles serving all the apartments.  
 
Michael Augustine, Alta Terra Real Estate, 1441 W. Ute Blvd, Park City, Utah addressed the 
Commission with renderings from other student housing at various universities and explained the 
different type of amenities they offer and the quality of their apartments. 
 
Commissioner Purdy asked if there will be amenities that make the development feel like an 
extension of the UTD campus, other than the shuttle. 
 
Mr. Augustine stated that they conduct research on different universities to determine what to 
provide, but examples include quiet study areas and an engineering lab. 
 
Commissioner Beach commented that a big issue with the last request was the amount of student 
housing, which was not supported by UTD or the City at the time, so he wanted to know why the 
Commission should consider the request at this time.  
 

APPROVED



 
 6 
 
Mr. Augustine stated they have always been an advocate for student housing and things have 
evolved since the last approval in 2022. The proposal is still mixed use and they have studied the 
demand for student housing at UTD where there is currently a waitlist. 
 
Commissioner Beach replied that the original plan had a mix of residential and student housing, 
so this proposal doesn’t seem appropriate. 
 
Mr. Fisher stated in 2022 the proposal was different, but now the need for student housing now at 
UTD is in huge demand. He expressed it may be arbitrary to distinguish between student 
residential. He continued to say that many market rate apartments have been approved in the City 
since the last request, but there is a demand for student housing.  
 
Commissioner Beach commented that he was in favor of the proposed phasing but was not in 
support of modifying the uses from what was previously approved. 
 
Commissioner Roberts stated he was curious if UTD had commented on the proposal. 
 
Mr. Fisher replied that they have not commented. 
 
Mr. Chavez answered that UTD has not commented, and the Notice of Public Hearing was sent to 
the University of Texas administrative office. 
 
Mr. Fisher advised that they did not hold a position last time and this is a private development and 
free enterprise, there is a need for all types of housing, and they would not be in competition with 
them, it is a different type of housing product, where there is a huge need. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked why they felt it was important to reverse the phasing. 
 
Mr. Fisher replied that the east building has the ground-floor retail, so if we build the west building 
it would still be required to build the retail somewhere.  
 
Commissioner Purdy asked if there’s a photo of the units that has not been staged or furnished. 
 
Mr. Augustine stated all the apartments are fully furnished. 
 
Mr. Fisher indicated that this applicant and the Wolverine developers have each agreed to pay 25% 
for a traffic light in this area. 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked what Mr. Fisher meant when he stated he wanted people to see the 
retail area from 190.  
 
Mr. Fisher clarified the retail has been moved to a more exterior and public facing area of the 
property where it will have more visibility.  
 
Commissioner Poynter inquired if residents in the neighborhood surrounding the development 
would be able to utilize the retail facilities. 
 
Mr. Fisher stated absolutely everyone can use it. 

APPROVED



 
 7 
 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked if walking or biking would be easy from Waterview. 
 
Mr. Fisher replied yes, and they will provide bike racks plus the  traffic light will help pedestrians 
and bicyclist. 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked why the hotel was on Waterview Parkway and not along George 
Bush Turnpike.  
 
Mr. Fisher stated UTD wanted a boutique style hotel that would be more college based and felt 
they would not get that if the hotel faced George Bush Turnpike. 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked if the development has considered how they will accommodate 
delivery robots like those used on the UTD campus.   
 
Mr. Fisher replied students will use phone apps to have food delivered directly, but hopefully they 
will have more options on site. 
 
Commissioner Poynter commented that some apartments have a designated area for food delivery. 
 
Dr. Mehrdad Mazaheri, property owner, 670 W. Campbell Road, Richardson Texas commented 
that he supported the proposed Wolverine development which will have 4,000 and none will be 
student housing. He continued stating that he has been aware of the shortage of student housing, 
and they should come to an agreement to provide housing in a safe environment next to the 
university.  
 
Chairman Marsh commended Dr. Mazaheri for continuing to work on this development and for 
his patience. He stated he was happy for the student housing and does not have any issues with 
which building goes up first, he just wants to make sure that it becomes mixed use. He understands 
the hardship that was created from the phasing requirements. 
 
Dr. Mazaheri described his observation of traffic flow on the streets around his property and how 
this area is the in-road to UTD and the City of Richardson. He also advised that this land is not 
tax-exempt and that he has endured extreme expenses, so this is another reason he would like to 
see development of the property. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if they had an anticipated timeframe for starting. 
 
Mr. Fisher stated if they received approval they will move forward through platting and permitting 
and hopefully break ground in a year. 
 
Mr. Augustine confirmed  it usually takes a year for due to the complexity of the design and bids. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if there were any propositions made to UTD about the proposal. 
 
Dr. Mazaheri stated that they would allow Wolverine  to locate signage around the property to help 
with visibility and exposure.  
 

APPROVED



 
 8 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if they have had discussions with anyone at UTD. 
 
Mr. Augustine replied no. 
 
Mr. Chavez stated again that a public hearing notice was sent to UTD. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard stated it would be advantageous to contact them. 
 
Mr. Augustine stated that they have meet with UTD ( Dr. Calvin Jameson) to discuss this 
development in the past. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard stated that it would be good to touch base with him again. 
 
Mr. Fisher explained that they reach out to them a few times with no response. 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked more detailed questions on access through and around the site.  
 
Mr. Fisher responded that traffic could drive through the private access road onsite. 
 
Commissioner Poynter asked if the private access road goes all the way to Waterview Parkway. 
 
Mr. Fisher explained that the site has good access and described the various access points and 
traffic pattern. 
 
Commissioner Poynter wanted to confirm that there was sidewalk access. 
 
Mr. Fisher replied yes. 
 
Commissioner Bohnsack asked if the students in this apartment would leave for school breaks. 
 
Mr. Augustine stated most university students will not leave during the breaks. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any further questions for the applicant or if there was anyone 
who wanted to speak in favor or opposition to the request. 
 
Quy Nguyen, 800 W. Renner Road, Richardson, Texas, with Comets for Better Transit, spoke in 
favor to say the group is in favor of the proposal because it provides much needed student housing 
to the area and provides access to the DART Silver Line. He explained students have difficulty 
finding housing at UTD. 
 
Connor Hulia, 3551 Wilshire Way #5153, Richardson, Texas, came forward to say as a former 
UTD student and current resident he supports the proposal and believes more housing will alleviate 
housing costs.  
 
Winter Keely, Comets for Better Transit, 2600 Waterview Parkway, Richardson, Texas, spoke in 
favor to say the student body and the UTD administration have different perspectives. A 
development like this provides easier means to access campus for students. 

APPROVED



 
 9 
 
 
Andrew Laska, 502 Hyde Park, Richardson, Texas, spoke to say he was fully in support of the 
proposal, and explained why the previous constraints put on this project were not appropriate. 
Also, the expansion Rutford Avenue will provide more interconnectivity to this area. 
 
Julie Robinson, 600 Nottingham, Richardson, Texas, spoke in support of the project to say this 
proposal will be beneficial to students and our community.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any other questions or comments. Seeing none, Chairman 
Marsh made a motion to close the public hearing.  Commissioner Beach seconded the motion and 
the motion passed 7-0.  
 
Chairman Marsh summarized some of the history of this project, and said he was concerned about 
the apartments get built without the retail component and there is still that risk, but understood the 
hardship in getting projects financed, and he was in support of the proposal. 
 
Commissioner Southard commented he had reservations but now most of his concerns have 
addressed, and he was encouraged by the students and residents in support and this project ties in 
with the Wolverine project to the south. 
 
Chairman Marsh followed up to say there has been a change since the Wolverine project was 
approved as it relates to requiring developments to provide a mix of uses. 
 
Commissioner Beach encouraged the applicant to work closer with UTD administration.  
 

Motion: Commissioner Roberts made a motion to recommend approval of the Request 
as presented.  Commissioner Bohnsack seconded the motion. 

 Motion Passed 6-1 (Opposed by Commissioner Beach). 
 
Chairman Marsh called for a 5-minute recess at 8:36 p.m. and reconvened at 8:45 p.m. 
 
5. ZF 24-10 Richardson Restaurant Park: Consider and act on a request for an amendment of 

an approved Major Modification of the West Spring Valley PD Planned Development District 
for approximately 5.3-acres located at 740 S. Central Expressway, on the west side of S. 
Central Expressway between Floyd Road and James Drive, to allow a Micro-
Brewery/Brewpub and amendment of the development standards. Property Owner: Richardson 
RP Development Corp. c/o Hermansen Land Dev. Inc.  Staff: Sam Chavez. 

 
Sam Chavez began by stating zoning file 24-10 is a request for an amendment to an approved 
Major Modification of the West Spring Valley PD Planned Development District. The site is 5.32 
acres, with 22,644 square feet of building area, maximum height of 1-story, with 227 parking 
spaces required, while 338 spaces are provided. He continued with concept plan changes include 
the building area to increase to a total of 25,810 square feet and the area for proposed Building 
Pad 4 and 5 will be combined to Building Pad 4. He explained the applicant requests approval for 
a forty-five (45) feet-tall Ferris wheel, encompassing approximately 80 feet x 34 feet of space in 
building area #4 and secured with fencing. The applicant is also requesting the ability to provide a 
microbrewery or brewpub, which would be defined in the Ordinance if approved. The applicant is 

APPROVED



 
 10 
 
also requesting approval for lots to be platted without street frontage, and to allow neon signs on 
existing the existing multi-use monument signs.  
 
Mr. Chavez concluded stating that no public comments have been received in response to this 
request and stated he was available for any questions. 
 
Commissioner Beach asked staff if only five (5) feet of the Ferris wheel would be visible from the 
west since the new building may be up to 40-feet tall. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied that the applicant can construct either a one (1) story building at twenty-four 
(24) feet or a two (2) story structure at a maximum of forty (40) feet. 
 
Commissioner Beach pointed out that the concept plan shows a one (1) story building. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied this is because the building has not been designed yet so it may be 1 or 2-story. 
 
Commissioner Beach responded there may be five (5) feet to twenty-five (25) feet of the Ferris 
wheel visible from the west. 
 
Mr. Chavez stated yes. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if neon signs are allowed. 
 
Mr. Chavez replied no, not in the sign standards for this district. 
 
Commissioner Purdy asked staff if they were aware of any regulations related to how close a Ferris 
wheel could operate near a microbrewery. 
 
Mr. Chavez stated he was not aware of any. 
 

With no more questions for staff, Chairman Marsh opened the public hearing. 
 
Kirk Hermansen, 5944 Luther Lane, Dallas, Texas stated he is the applicant and owner of the 
property and is available to answer any questions. He also spoke to an earlier question by clarifying 
neon signs are currently allowed on buildings but not on free-standing signs.  
 
Jason Boso 5339 Bonita Avenue, Dallas, Texas, introduced himself as the founder and owner of 
the Truck Yard and Second Rodeo and stated he hopes to open a new location at this property.  
Mr. Boso explained that Truck Yard is a family friendly outdoor bar that offers free, live, acoustic 
music seven (7) days a week.  Locally sourced food trucks are parked within the site and are rotated 
on a regular basis. They have a brewery in the Ft. Worth stockyards called Second Rodeo and they 
propose to expand to this location. He stated a brew pub has limited production, so it is meant for 
consumption on site and not distribution. Mr. Boso continued by stating that a brewery smells like 
baking bread. They might use chemicals to clean the equipment, but there will never be a bad smell 
outside of the establishment. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the Ferris wheel was a signature at every one of their locations.  
 
Mr. Boso replied no, but the Ferris wheel has been very successful at their locations in Houston 
and Alliance Town Center.  
 

APPROVED



 
 11 
 
Chairman Marsh inquired if the Ferris wheels were bought from the same company and if they are 
the same size in each of their locations. 
 
Mr. Boso answered that there are multiple manufacturers, but they hire the same inspectors and 
same people who do the modifications or the repairs when necessary.  
 
Chairman Marsh asked if their employees operate and run the Ferris wheel. 
 
Mr. Boso replied, yes and it is secured by double-gates. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the Ferris wheel had fluorescent lighting or LED lights. 
 
Mr. Boso stated that the Ferris wheel would most likely have faux LED lights. 
 
Commissioner Roberts explained his concern of noise from amplified acoustic music and how it 
would affect St. Paul Catholic Church, which is located on the west side of Floyd Road, and he 
was not sure if it was within the 200-foot notification zone. 
 
Mr. Chavez confirmed that the church was within the 200-foot notification zone. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked about proposed hours of operation. 
 
Mr. Boso stated it will most likely be 11:00 am to 12:00 am on weekdays and 11:00 am to 1:00 
am on the weekends.  He is familiar with following decibel meter readings. They have been 
scrutinized at their original Truck Yard location in downtown Dallas, but they have not received 
any tickets from noise complaints. He explained this is not a music venue, they follow the rules of 
the local community, and keep the music low enough so customers can still hold a conversation. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked if the music would be amplified and held outside in the beer garden. 
 
Mr. Boso answered yes. 
 
Commissioner Roberts indicated he was concerned about noise pollution impacting the church. 
 
Mr. Hermansen explained that the church leaders have been supportive and have not made any 
complaints. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked why a representative from the church did not  provide comment. 
 
Mr. Hermansen stated that they have worked with them as neighbors, and they even allow cross-
parking. They were unable to come to this meeting, but he would ask them to provide a letter in 
support of the request. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if the Ferris wheel was big enough for adults, how many fit in a 
car and if it is safe for young children to ride. 
 
Mr. Boso confirmed that the carriage holds two (2) people, and both adults and children can ride 
if  they meet the minimum height.  
 
Vice Chairman Southard inquired if Truck Yard was the name of the brewery. 
 

APPROVED



 
 12 
 
Mr. Boso said no, Second Rodeo is the name of the brewery. 
 
Commissioner Purdy asked if the Ferris wheel in Houston was impacted by the recent high wind 
activity and were they confident it would be secure in this location. 
 
Mr. Boso answered Ferris wheels are built to meet wind load standards, and it will be permanently 
installed on the site. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the applicant will also utilize the beer garden. 
 
Mr. Boso explained the project will be completed in two (2) phases. They will first open in the 
beer garden and then construct a new building for the brewpub which they expect to open 24 
months after the beer garden opens. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the building will also have a restaurant. 
 
Mr. Boso responded that they will provide food service with the existing beer garden kitchens and  
food trucks. A brewpub allows a mixed beverage license so they can also provide mixed cocktails. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if the area between the existing restaurants and Truck Yard will become 
common area. 
 
Mr. Boso answered yes, and it will be part of the allowed alcoholic beverage drinking perimeter 
as designated by the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Commission (TABC).  
 
Mr. Hermansen commented the Planned Development allows for a certain number of special 
events that could be hosted here annually. He concluded stating he is excited that the first 
combination Truck Yard/Second Rodeo could be in Richardson. 
 

Mr. Boso informed the Commission that they may need a 30-35foot tall building due to the size 
of the equipment; the current brewery has a 30-foot ceiling. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked how many employees will be on staff. 
 
Mr. Boso replied about seventy-five (75) employees, including sixty (60) full-time employees.  
 
Commissioner Roberts commented he thought the idea was great and that it would be a welcome 
addition to the area, however, he still has concerns about the noise. 
 
Mr. Boso explained he typically meets with community groups and neighbors to address concerns. 
 
Commissioner Roberts stated that based on what has been said he did not think there will be a 
compliance problem, but he suggested getting comments from the clergy at St. Paul Church before 
this goes to Council. 
 
Mr. Boso replied that was good advice. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any other questions or comments for the applicant.  Seeing 
none, Chairman Marsh asked if anyone in attendance would like to come forward to speak in favor 
or against the request. 
 

APPROVED



 
 13 
 
Reid Robinson, 600 Nottingham, Richardson, spoke in favor to say he lives one block from the 
development and stated that there had not been a noise issue with the previous beer garden and 
didn’t think there would be any issues with this proposal. 
 
Andrew Laska, 502 Hyde Park, Richardson was neutral regarding the project, but did state that the 
proposals up until this point were approved with site plans that they were too specific and limited, 
so this plan showing a general area provided more flexibility, so it was preferred.  
 
Mark Edinburgh, 704 James Drive, Richardson spoke in opposition of the request to say he has 
made noise complaints about this property in the past, and he has an issue with the vague site plan, 
parking on James Drive and the neighboring streets, live music, and lights from the Ferris wheel.   
 
Mr. Boso stated that Mr. Edinburgh has a valid point but there are 338 parking spaces onsite which 
should be plenty for their business and that they may have to invest in signage to keep people from 
parking on James Drive. 
 
Mr. Hermansen responded that James Drive was designed to allow on- street parking in order to 
meet the requirements of the overlay district and there is cross-parking allowed with the church. 
 
Mr. Boso continued saying that the capacity at this location would be between 300-400 people and 
the fire codes occupancy limits may keep the actual parking to a minimum. 
 
Chairman Marsh addressed the proposed building height to say this district limits one-story 
buildings to 20-feet, but the applicant may need a higher building. 
 
Mr. Boso replied that the brew tanks require 30-35 feet, and they may include a second story with 
private rooms. 
 

Mr. Chavez confirmed that typically in these designs a mezzanine level is included. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked Mr. Boso is he was comfortable with that. 
 
Mrs. Boso replied yes, and they have this at their other locations. 
 
Commissioner Roberts asked the applicant to address the noise that may be generated from the 
open carriages.  
 
Mr. Boso confirmed they were open-air carriages and stated it does not operate fast like an 
amusement ride. 
 
Vice Chairman Southard asked if the Ferris wheel played music.  
 
Mr. Boso answered no. 
 
Chairman Marsh asked if there were any other questions or comments. Seeing none, Chairman 
Marsh made a motion to close the public hearing.  Commissioner Beach seconded the motion and 
the motion passed 7-0.  
 
Chairman Marsh expressed that the Richardson Restaurant Park needs revitalization so the Truck 
Yard would be a great addition. 
 

APPROVED



 
 14 
 
 Motion: Vice Chairman Southard made a motion to recommend approval of the 
   request as presented.  Commissioner Beach seconded the motion. 

Motion passed 7-0 
      
ADJOURN 
 
With no further business before the Commission, Chairman Marsh adjourned the regular business 
meeting at 9:26 p.m. 
 
 
 
      
Bryan Marsh, Chairman 
 

APPROVED




